## **FILED**

AUG 27, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 331792-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

# ROBERT E. LARSON, TYLER W. GASSMAN and PAUL E. STATLER,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant/Respondent.

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Toby J. Marshall, WSBA #32726 Email: tmarshall@tmdwlaw.com 936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 TERRELL MARSHALL DAUDT & WILLIE PLLC Seattle, Washington 98103-8869

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In 2009 Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler were wrongly convicted of a crime they did <u>not</u> commit. Their convictions were based on the false accusations and testimony of a teenager who admitted his own role in the crime and sought to avoid the consequences by implicating Larson, Gassman, and Statler. The men spent more than four years wrongfully imprisoned before the criminal court vacated their convictions and ordered new trials based on significant new exculpatory information. The State subsequently dismissed all charges.

Larson, Gassman, and Statler brought civil claims against the State under the Wrongly Convicted Persons Act, chapter 4.100 RCW. Enacted in 2013, the Act is a remedial statute that allows exonerated individuals to obtain relief for the injustice of being wrongfully stripped of their liberty. During a four-day bench trial—the first trial conducted under the Act—the men established the elements of their claims with clear and convincing evidence. The court, however, entered judgment for the State.

The trial court's decision is based on several erroneous legal conclusions. Among other things, the trial court wrongly interpreted "significant new exculpatory information" to mean information unavailable at trial. The trial court relied on a Court of Appeals decision that had been reversed by the Washington Supreme Court, which held significant new information includes information available at trial but never presented to the fact finder. Moreover, the trial court wrongly

interpreted the Act to exempt exonerated individuals from coverage if they have other available legal remedies, even though the statute explicitly requires claimants to waive all other remedies—a requirement that would be unnecessary if the trial court's interpretation were correct.

The trial court also wrongly concluded that Larson, Gassman, and Statler failed to prove the charging documents were dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information even though the issue was undisputed and, under the plain language of the statute, the reason for dismissal is immaterial because a new trial was ordered.

Most importantly, the trial court erred in concluding as a matter of law that Larson, Gassman, and Statler failed to prove their actual innocence clearly and convincingly. In reaching this conclusion, the court wrongly rejected the well-established "highly probable" standard and erroneously adopted an "impossibility" standard imposed on convicted individuals in habeas corpus proceedings. The trial court also erred by requiring Larson, Gassman, and Statler to provide alibi evidence for an entire five-week period even though the undisputed evidence established both that the crime could have occurred only on April 4 or 15, 2008, and that the men could not have participated.

In conjunction with these legal errors, the trial court ignored substantial evidence proving Larson, Gassman, and Statler are actually innocent of the charges filed against them. For the following reasons, this Court should reverse the decision of the trial court and remand with instructions to enter judgment in favor of Larson, Gassman, and Statler.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

## A. Assignments of Error

- Larson, Gassman, and Statler proved their convictions were vacated on the basis of significant new exculpatory information, and the trial court erred in concluding otherwise.
- 2. The trial court erred in holding that for Larson, Gassman, and Statler to prevail, the State must have dismissed the underlying charging documents expressly on the basis of significant new exculpatory information.
- The trial court erred by failing to give due consideration to difficulties of proof caused by the unavailability of witness Eric Weskamp.
- 4. Larson, Gassman, and Statler proved by clear and convincing evidence that they are actually innocent, and the trial court erred in concluding otherwise.
- 5. Substantial evidence demonstrates the crime must have occurred on April 4 or 15, 2008, and the trial court erred in finding otherwise. (Finding of Fact 10.)
- 6. The trial court erred in finding "limited evidence was presented that was not put before the jury in the criminal trial." (Finding of Fact 44.)

## **B.** Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Does "significant new exculpatory information" in RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii) include evidence that was available at the time of the

criminal trial but never presented to the fact finder? Yes. (Assignment of Error 1.)

- 2. Can a claimant satisfy the "significant new exculpatory information" requirement when there were additional grounds for the criminal court's decision to vacate the conviction and order a new trial? Yes. (Assignment of Error 1.)
- 3. Can a claimant prevail on a wrongful conviction claim even when there are other potential remedies available under the law? Yes.

  (Assignment of Error 1.)
- 4. Where a claimant's conviction was vacated and a new trial ordered on the basis of significant new exculpatory information but the charging document was subsequently dismissed, may the claimant prevail without showing the dismissal was also based on significant new exculpatory information? Yes. (Assignment of Error 2.)
- 5. Should the trial court have admitted the recorded interview of Eric Weskamp under the relaxed evidentiary standard in RCW 4.100.060(3)? Yes. (Assignment of Error 3.)
- 6. Does "clear and convincing evidence" in RCW 4.100.060(1) mean evidence indicating that the fact to be proved is highly probable? Yes. (Assignment of Error 4.)
- 7. Are the stringent burdens placed on convicted individuals in habeas corpus proceedings inapplicable to exonerated individuals pursuing claims under the Act? Yes. (Assignment of Error 4.)

- 8. If the evidence presented at trial demonstrated the alleged crime must have occurred on April 4 or 15, 2008, was it improper to require Larson, Gassman, and Statler to provide alibi evidence for other dates? Yes. (Assignments of Error 4, 5.)
- 9. Did Larson, Gassman, and Statler prove it is highly probable they are actually innocent of the illegal conduct alleged in the charging documents? Yes. (Assignments of Error 4, 5, 6.)

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Facts

Early in the morning on April 23, 2008, Aramis Turner and Jenalee Hall were sitting in their living room when several men broke through the front door. RP 204:5-15, 465:5-12. One of the men was armed with a shotgun. RP 205:6-13. Another was armed with a baseball bat. RP 465:8-9. Bandannas covered the intruders' faces. RP 425:17-19.

Holding Turner and Hall hostage, the masked men searched the apartment for drugs. RP 463:4-13, 465:6-9, 466:6-9. During the robbery, the bandanna on one intruder's face slipped down. RP 465:25– 466:5. Turner and Hall recognized the intruder as Anthony Kongchunji. *Id.* They also recognized another intruder by the sound of his voice. RP 466:3-5. It was Larry Dunham. *Id.* 

The robbers eventually left the apartment, taking with them a purse and laptop computer. RP 466:10-15. Turner and Hall called the police, who went to Nick Smith's apartment a short time later and found and

detained four individuals: Anthony Kongchunji, Nick Smith, Larry Dunham, and Matthew Dunham. RP 598:16–599:14. Brothers Larry and Matthew Dunham were roommates with Kongchunji, and all four of the men were friends. RP 460:25–462:13. In the parking lot of Smith's apartment building, the police located the vehicle used in the robbery, a red Nissan pickup belonging to the Dunhams' mother. RP 463:16-19, 466:16-20, 613:20-23. The police found the stolen purse and laptop in a nearby dumpster. RP 468:17–469:3, 599:7-9. The police also found other evidence linking the four men to the Turner/Hall robbery, including dark clothing. RP 468:12-16.

The police arrested Kongchunji, Smith, and the Dunhams and interrogated them. RP 204:5-15. Larry Dunham confessed, offering extensive details of the robbery. RP 600:6-22. Smith also confessed. RP 600:25–601:2. Kongchunji asked for an attorney. RP 601:3-5.

Matthew Dunham repeatedly lied to the police about his involvement in the robbery. RP 472:1–474:25. For example, the officer asked Matthew Dunham whether the four men left Nick Smith's apartment that evening, and Dunham said no. RP 472:16-21. That was a lie. *Id*. The officer asked Matthew Dunham whether he had gone to the apartment complex where Turner and Hall lived. RP 472:22-25. Dunham lied again and said no. *Id*.

After learning Larry Dunham and Nick Smith had confessed, the officer questioning Matthew Dunham asked whether he left out any important information in his answers. RP 473:1-10. Matthew Dunham

lied again, saying he had told the officer everything he could remember. *Id.* The officer then started to confront Matthew Dunham with the information obtained from Larry Dunham and Nick Smith. RP 473:1–474:25. But the lies continued. *Id.* Matthew Dunham repeatedly changed his story and lied about numerous aspects of the robbery. *Id.* 

The Turner/Hall robbery was the last in a string of similar crimes: it was the third "drug-rip" robbery in Spokane in just over a week and the fifth that year. RP 611:22–612:7, 613:8-10, 619:18-24, 620:6-7, 620:14-16. The target of each robbery was a known or suspected drug dealer. RP 204:5-22, 215:5-12, 216:6-16, 463:16–464:25, 479:10-25, 487:4–488:6, 612:11-21, 613:4-7, 613:11-23, 619:1–620:24. Each robbery took place at night when it was dark. *Id.* Each robbery was committed by suspects wearing dark clothing and bandannas to hide their faces. *Id.* Each robbery involved a forced entry or assault. *Id.* Each robbery involved a shotgun. *Id.* Each robbery involved a red pickup as the getaway car. *Id.* 

Matthew Dunham was only 17 years old when he was arrested. RP 475:3-8. He was booked and sent to juvenile detention. *Id.* Within two days, however, he was transferred to county jail. RP 475:5-10. Facing up to 40 years in prison, Matthew Dunham was scared. RP 475:20–476:5, 476:11-18.

Soon a friendly face appeared: that of Anthony Kongchunji. RP 476:19–477:1. The accomplices were housed in the same section of the jail. *Id.* Over the next several weeks, Kongchunji and Dunham talked every day. RP 218:1–219:5, 220:1-13, 477:2-24. To obtain leniency from

the State, the two conspired during this time to frame others as accomplices in the series of robberies. *Id*.

Spokane detectives Doug Marske and William Francis investigated the string of drug-rip robberies. RP 608:1-6. Two months before the Turner/Hall incident, Marske told Francis he suspected Paul Statler for one of the robberies. RP 638:22–639:2, 642:7-10. A drug dealer named Chris Selfridge, a victim in the robbery, told Marske he heard a rumor that Paul Statler and Bryan Bewick may have been involved. RP 639:3-20.

When Marske relayed this information to Francis, Francis said
Statler was involved in a pawnshop robbery with a person by the name of
Tyler Gassman in 2003, when the men were juveniles. RP 16:2-11, 633:215, 638:22–639:2. Marske and Francis never sought a search warrant for
the home of either Statler or Gassman. RP 624:14-19. Instead, Marske
directed the Department of Corrections to search Statler's home. RP
632:17–636:20. The search uncovered nothing related to the robberies.
RP 634:7-19. Nevertheless, Marske stayed locked in on Statler. RP
638:18–640:6, 642:19-25.

A month after his arrest, Matthew Dunham met with Marske and Francis for a "free talk." RP 607:10–610:10. Dunham told the detectives he committed the Turner/Hall robbery. RP 564:23–568:16. He also told the detectives he committed an earlier drug-rip robbery on Dishman Road. RP 611:7-10. The Dishman robbery was substantially similar to the Turner/Hall robbery and occurred only 28 hours earlier. RP 612:5–613:23. Dunham claimed, however, that the Dishman robbery involved

other people. RP 616:10-18. Specifically, he said he committed the Dishman robbery with Anthony Kongchunji, Paul Statler, Tyler Gassman, and someone named "Andy." *Id*.

Five days later, Matthew Dunham met again with Marske and Francis. RP 616:25–620:13. Dunham told the detectives he was also involved in a drug-rip robbery that occurred on E. Cataldo. *Id.* The E. Cataldo robbery was substantially similar to the Turner/Hall and Dishman robberies. RP 612:5–613:23, 619:18–620:13. It occurred at night and involved an assault on known drug dealer named Eric Weskamp. *Id.* The suspects wore dark clothes and bandannas, and one had a shotgun. RP 463:16–464:25, 613:4-7, 619:18–620:13. In each case, the robbers left in a red Nissan pickup. RP 613:11-23.

Dunham told Marske and Francis that he committed the E. Cataldo robbery with Anthony Kongchunji, Paul Statler, Tyler Gassman, and someone named "Andrew." RP 616:19–617:19. Dunham repeated the name "Andrew" several times. *Id.* The detectives claimed they tried to identify "Andrew," but their reports had no information about his race, height, address, or relationship to Dunham. RP 617:20–618:11.

Within a week of the second meeting, Matthew Dunham obtained a plea agreement with the prosecutor. Ex. 38. Dunham admitted to three armed robberies and faced decades in prison, but the State promised to recommend an "exceptional" sentence of less than 16 months in juvenile detention. *Id.* And that is what he ultimately received. RP 428:16-19. In return, Matthew Dunham had to assist the detectives in their ongoing

investigations into the robberies. Ex. 38. If he failed to do so, Dunham's guilty plea and sentence would be withdrawn, and he would return to court for full prosecution. *Id*.

Shortly after Matthew Dunham entered into his plea agreement, Marske and Francis learned Paul Statler had a cousin named Robert "Bobby" Larson. 625:3–629:15. The detectives also learned where Bobby lived. *Id.* Within one hour of recording this information in their files, the detectives met yet another time with Dunham. *Id.* According to their notes, the detectives asked him again who else was involved in the Dishman and E. Cataldo robberies. *Id.* Dunham answered that he committed the robberies with Anthony Kongchunji, Paul Statler, Tyler Gassman, and someone named "Andrew" or "Bobby." *Id.* Dunham then thought it over for a moment and said he now believed the fourth person's name was "Bobby." *Id.* The detectives asked Dunham additional questions in an effort to identify Bobby, and Dunham told them Bobby is Paul Statler's cousin. *Id.* Dunham also told the detectives he knew where Bobby lived. *Id.* 

The detectives prepared probable cause statements alleging Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler committed the E. Cataldo robbery on April 15, 2008 at 10:00 p.m. in the evening. Exs. 115, 118, 121. The detectives also prepared statements accusing the men of committing the Dishman robbery on April 21, 2008. RP 651:2-21.

After their arrests, Larson, Gassman and Statler agreed to talk to Marske and Francis. RP 649:12–650:9. Each maintained his innocence.

*Id.* Larson and Statler later presented the prosecutor with documented alibis for the date of the E. Cataldo robbery, which allegedly occurred on April 15, 2008, at 10:00 p.m. Exs. 16, 17, 18 at 2:8-15. Larson clocked into work at 9:48 p.m. the evening of April 15, 2008, and he remained at work until 6:31 a.m. the following morning. Ex. 29. Statler was at home that evening taking a VICAP test, which is a home breathalyzer exam with video. RP 333:5-334:16, 338:13-339:1; Ex. 30. At 10:01 p.m. on April 15, Statler blew into the VICAP machine while his picture was taken simultaneously. RP 338:13-339:1; Ex. 30. After learning of the alibis, the prosecutor amended the information to allege the E. Cataldo robbery took place on April 17. Exs. 16, 17, 18 at 2:8-15.

On the eve of trial in the E. Cataldo case, Anthony Kongchunji agreed to testify that Larson, Gassman, and Statler were innocent. RP 221:24–222:18, 645:2–646:12. The following day, Doug Marske transported Kongchunji to a meeting with the prosecutor. *Id.* On the way, Marske threatened to have the prosecutor file additional charges against Kongchunji if he testified at the trial of Larson, Gassman, and Statler. *Id.* As a result, Kongchunji did not testify, and Larson, Gassman, and Statler were convicted of the E. Cataldo robbery. RP 221:24–222:18; Exs. 7, 8, 9. Robert Larson was sentenced to 20 years in prison. Ex. 7. Tyler Gassman was sentence to 25.75 years in prison. Ex. 8. And Paul Statler was sentenced to 41.5 years in prison. Ex. 9.

The prosecutor also charged Paul Statler and Bryan Bewick with Selfridge drug-rip robbery. RP 640:7–643:13. On the day of trial, the

prosecutor learned there was a problem with a photo montage Marske had presented to Selfridge and from which Selfridge purportedly identified Statler. *Id.* The day before Marske met with Selfridge, another detective interviewed Selfridge. *Id.* That detective had also heard the rumor about Statler, and he presented Selfridge with a photo montage that included Statler. *Id.* Selfridge, however, was unable to identify Statler in the first photo montage. *Id.* When this and other alibi information came to light, the prosecutor dropped the charges against Statler and Bewick. *Id.* 

The prosecutor also tried Statler, Gassman, and Larson for the Dishman robbery. RP 651:2-21. The jury acquitted. RP 652:14-16; CP 266 n.2.

In 2012, the Innocence Project Northwest and its cooperating counsel brought a CrR 7.8 motion for relief from the judgment in the E. Cataldo case. Exs. 16, 17, 18 at 1:15-22. The criminal court granted the motion, vacating the convictions on the basis of significant new exculpatory information and ordering a new trial. Exs. 13-18. The State subsequently dismissed all charges without retrial. Exs. 19-21.

In 2013, Detective Marske was the subject of an internal investigation regarding his work on the cases that led to the wrongful convictions of Larson, Gassman, and Statler. RP 630:8-14. The investigator found numerous inaccuracies in Marske's probable cause statements. RP 630:8-14, 655:22–656:21. The investigator determined Marske made assumptions and mistakes that negatively impacted the investigation. *Id.* The investigator found Marske accepted the statements

of witnesses who had obvious credibility issues and reasons to be untruthful but made little or no effort to confirm their veracity. *Id*. Marske received a written reprimand. *Id*.

## B. Procedural Background

In January 2014, Larson, Gassman, and Statler filed a complaint against the State for relief under the wrongful conviction statute. CP 3. Approximately one year later, the case was tried during a four-day bench trial. CP 402-03. Fifteen witnesses testified, and the court admitted 51 exhibits into the record. CP 402-03; Dkt. No. 12 (RP Index).

The trial court entered judgment in favor of the State. CP 431. The court concluded as a matter of law that Larson, Gassman, and Statler failed to prove their convictions were vacated on the basis of significant new exculpatory information. *Id.* Though the issue was not in dispute, the court also concluded as a matter of law that the claimants failed to prove the charges against them were dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information. *Id.* Finally, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that Larson, Gassman, and Statler failed to prove their actual innocence by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.* 

A copy of the trial court's decision is attached to this brief as Appendix A. A copy of the Act is attached as Appendix B.

### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. Summary of the Argument

The wrongful conviction statute, chapter 4.100 RCW, allows a person who has been wrongly convicted of a felony and imprisoned as a result to bring a civil suit against the State for money damages and other compensation. Among other things, a claimant must show the following by clear and convincing evidence to obtain a favorable judgment: (1) that the claimant's conviction was reversed or vacated on the basis of significant new exculpatory information; (2) that if a new trial was ordered, the claimant was found not guilty or the charging document was dismissed without retrial; and (3) that the claimant did not engage in any illegal conduct alleged in the charging documents.

The trial court erred in concluding as a matter of law that Larson, Gassman, and Statler failed to prove their convictions were vacated on the basis of significant new exculpatory information. As the Washington Supreme Court held in a decision overturning the ruling upon which the trial court relied, "significant new exculpatory information" includes information that was available at the time of trial but never presented to the original fact finder. This construction furthers the remedial objective of the Act, which must be liberally construed.

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