FILED

OCT 28, 2015

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 33179-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT E. LARSON,, TYLER W. GASSMAN, AND PAUL E. STATLER,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant/Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Melanie Tratnik, WSBA #25576 Richard L. Weber, WSBA #16583 Assistant Attorney General 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430 OID #91094

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A trial court's findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence will not be disturbed on appeal. *Robertson v. Bindel*, 67 Wn.2d 172, 174, 406 P.2d 779 (1965). "Substantial evidence is evidence that would persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the statement asserted." *Cingula Wireless, L.O.C. v. Thurston County*, 131 Wn. App. 756, 768, 120 P.3d 300 (2006). When a party challenges a court's findings following a bench trial, the non-moving party "is entitled to the benefit of all evidence and reasonable inference therefrom in support of the findings of fact entered by the trial court." *Mason v. Mortgage America, Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 842, 853, 792 P.2d 142 (1990).

⁷ CP 1-207.

Findings of fact must support the conclusions of law. *State v. Graffius*, 74 Wn. App. 23, 29, 871 P.2d 1115 (1994). Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. V. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003).

Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Breazeale, 144 Wn.2d 829, 837, 31 P.3d 1155 (2001).

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Hamlet*, 133 Wn.2d 314, 324, 944 P.2d 1026 (1996). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *State v. Jackson*, 111 Wn. App. 660, 669, 46 P.3d 257 (2002).

A. Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proving that their convictions were vacated and dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information.

On December 14, 2012, Judge Michael Price vacated Plaintiffs' convictions pursuant to CrR 7.8(b)(5). P's Ex's 13, 14, 15. Judge Price subsequently entered Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law and Order. P's Ex. 16, 17, 18. These conclusions of law explicitly state that Plaintiffs' convictions were being vacated because they "have shown they were denied their constitutional right to effect [sic] assistance of counsel. P's Ex. 16, 17, 18 at p. 6. Judge Price subsequently dismissed Gassman and Statler's charges because "there is insufficient evidence to proceed with trial." P's Ex's 20, 21. Larson's complaint was also dismissed.⁸

In order to prevail on their wrongful conviction claim Plaintiffs had the burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that they met the requirements of RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii) which provides:

> The claimant's judgement of conviction was reversed or vacated and the charging document dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information or, if a new trial was ordered pursuant to the presentation of significant new exculpatory information, either the claimant was found not guilty at the new trial or the claimant was not retried and the charging document dismissed.

Pursuant to the aforementioned provision, Plaintiffs had to show both that their conviction was vacated and that the charging document was dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information. Because Plaintiffs proved neither, their claim was properly denied.

1. Plaintiffs' convictions were not vacated on the basis of significant new exculpatory information.

Judge Cooney found that Plaintiffs had failed to meet the requirements of RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii), explaining that "[a]bsent from Judge Price's findings of fact and conclusions of law are any findings or conclusions stating the vacations of convictions were based on significant new exculpatory information." CP 421. This ruling should be affirmed,

⁸ It is unclear from the signature which judge signed Larson's dismissal order and there is no stamp underneath the signature indicating the judge's name.

because ineffective assistance of counsel was the sole basis upon which Plaintiffs' judgements were vacated. P's Ex. 16, 17, 18 at pp. 6-9.

2. Plaintiffs' convictions were not dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information.

Plaintiffs also failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that their convictions were dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information as required by RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). Plaintiffs misrepresent the record when they claim that "this element of the ACT was among the undisputed issues listed in the Trial Management Joint Report." P's brief at p. 28., citing CP 243-44. The joint report states only that "the charging documents were dismissed" but provides no reason. CP 243. There is no dispute that the charges were dismissed.

The disputed issue is whether Plaintiffs proved that the charges were dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory information. Judge Cooney correctly held that Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden, explaining that the dismissal orders, at least two of which were signed by Judge Price, do not contain "any findings that the dismissals were based upon significant new exculpatory information." CP 421.

For a claim to be actionable, a plaintiff must show that his conviction was reversed or vacated or that a new trial was ordered pursuant to the presentation of significant new exculpatory information.

RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). When a conviction is vacated the Act imposes an additional requirement that any subsequent dismissal was also based on significant new exculpatory information. *Id*.

Plaintiffs argue that pursuant to the second half of RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii) they were not required to prove that their charges were dismissed based on significant new exculpatory information because a new trial was scheduled after their conviction was vacated. Their argument fails, because RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii) sets forth different requirements for plaintiffs whose convictions were vacated than for those who have a new trial ordered through other mechanisms.

Plaintiffs' convictions were "vacated" pursuant to CrR 7.8, a court rule which allows a court to "relieve a party from a final judgment, order, or proceeding." CrR 7.8(c). "Vacate" is the same legal term explicitly used in the first section of RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). This first section requires that if a conviction is vacated then both the vacation and any subsequent dismissal must be based on significant new exculpatory information. RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). Plaintiffs failed to prove either, and thus their claim was properly denied.

3. The information presented for the motion to vacate was not "new."

Additionally, the information relied upon in vacating the convictions was not "new' information within the meaning of RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). Plaintiffs incorrectly cite *State v. Riofta* for the proposition that "new" means any evidence that was not presented to the trier of fact at the underlying trial. This is not the standard. *Riofta* holds that "the statutory language, 'significant new information,' includes DNA test results that did not exist at the time of trial and that are material to the perpetrator's identity, regardless of whether DNA testing could have been performed at trial." 166 Wn.2d 358, 361, 209 P.3d 467 (2009).

A new trial may be granted pursuant to CrR 7.5 if a defendant demonstrates that there is "[n]ewly discovered evidence material for the defendant, which the defendant could not have discovered with reasonable diligence and produced at trial."

A conviction may be vacated pursuant to CrR 7.8(b)(2) if a defendant demonstrates that there is "[n]ewly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under rule 7.5."

By incorporating the new trial and vacation mechanisms into the Act the legislature clearly intended that a wrongful conviction claim must be based on evidence that the defendant could *not* have discovered with reasonable diligence before trial. The information relied upon by Plaintiffs fails to meet this test. In vacating Plaintiffs' convictions Judge Price explained: "An hour or two of investigation by trial counsel would have cast doubt on the state's case." P's Ex. 16, 17, 18 at p. 4. Judge Cooney recognized that the information was not "new," and that the convictions were vacated due to ineffective assistance of counsel. Defendants who are able to establish that they received ineffective assistance of counsel are entitled to have their conviction reversed or vacated, but they are not entitled to receive monetary compensation through the wrongful conviction compensation act. Plaintiffs' claims were properly denied.

4. The information presented for the motion to vacate was not exculpatory.

Plaintiffs claim that despite Judge Price's explicit conclusion that their convictions were vacated due to ineffective assistance of counsel, they have nevertheless met the requirements of RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii), because his findings and conclusions criticize trial counsel for not having conducted a more thorough investigation and mentions information their counsel failed to produce. P's Ex. 16, 17, 18. Plaintiffs' argument fails because Judge Price's comments merely detail his legal conclusion that they received ineffective assistance of counsel. His comments do not change his conclusion, nor do they satisfy the clear and narrowly-drafted requirements of the Act. Moreover, Judge Price refers to the information trial counsel failed to produce as "potentially exculpatory evidence," a characterization that is a far cry from the Act's requirement that a conviction be vacated on the basis of *actual* "significant new exculpatory information."

The three "potentially exculpatory evidence" items mentioned in Judge Price's findings, conclusions and order are 1) Matthew Dunham's phone records, 2) counsel's failure to interview Shane Neilson⁹ and 3) Eric Weskamp's employment timecard. CP 412-13, 420-22; P's Ex. 16, 17, 18 at pp. 4-5. None of these are exculpatory.

a. Matthew Dunham's phone records contain no exculpatory information.

In the motion to vacate, Judge Price accepted Plaintiffs' claim that Matthew Dunham's phone records, obtained after completion of the criminal trial, undermined Dunham's credibility because it supposedly showed that he lied at the criminal trial when he said he did not know any of the victims. P's Ex. 16, 17, 18 at pp. 4-5. Judge Price also accepted Plaintiffs' representation that the phone records could help identify the date the crime occurred. *Id.* At the wrongful conviction trial, Plaintiffs' expert Professor Alexandra Natapoff also argued that Dunham's phone

⁹ Judge Price's findings of fact and conclusions of law spell this name as "Nielson." The trial transcripts and Judge Cooney's findings, conclusions and order spell the name as "Neilson." This brief will use the latter spelling.

records undermined his credibility because it showed he may have had phone communication with one of the victims the day of the robbery. RP 300. However, Natapoff admitted she was never shown the phone records. Similarly, it is questionable whether Judge Price saw the records given that they were not attached to the motion to vacate. RP 283-84.

Plaintiffs claim that Dunham's phone records were exculpatory is troubling given the fact that they were never given to Natapoff, were never provided to the State despite a timely request, and appear to have never been shown to Judge Price. RP 283-84. If there is any doubt that these phone records did not contain a shred of exculpatory information that doubt is erased by the fact that Plaintiffs made no attempts to enter them into evidence at the wrongful conviction trial.

It appears Judge Price and Natapoff accepted Plaintiffs' claims without scrutiny and without reviewing the trial transcripts.¹⁰ Had that been done, they would have learned that Plaintiffs' assertion that Matthew Dunham testified that he did know any of the victims is contrary to the record. Dunham said he did not recognize the victims' names, but when Weskamp was physically described to him Dunham explained that he may

¹⁰ Natapoff testified that she reviewed "just pieces" of the trial transcripts. RP 298. When asked about Dunham's testimony that he may know Weskamp she replied "I don't recall." RP 300. When she was asked about Weskamp's testimony that he recognized Dunham but only vaguely knew him she again replied "I don't recall." RP 302.

in fact know Weskamp. RP 301. This corresponds with Weskamp's testimony that he recognized Dunham from having seen him before, but that he did not know him very well. P's Ex. 52. at 219-20. Weskamp did not know Dunham's last name. *Id.* at 220. When Weskamp approached the truck Dunham was in the driver's seat. *Id.* at 222. Dunham looked straight ahead and never acknowledged Weskamp, making it questionable whether Dunham even saw Weskamp during the robbery. *Id.* at 222. All of this information was known to the jury that convicted Plaintiffs.

Judge Price and Natapoff also accepted Plaintiffs' claim that Dunham's phone records proved he had phone communication with the victims prior to the robbery. This claim also does not hold up to scrutiny. Witnesses testified that Kongchunji had phone contact with Weskamp before the robbery, including getting directions and calling when he arrived at the Cataldo home. P's Ex. 52 at 216, 219; RP 438, 441, 443. At the wrongful conviction trial Kongchunji confirmed he spoke with Weskamp before the robbery, and that it was not uncommon for him to use Dunham's phone. RP 217, 252. Given that Dunham was the driver and Kongchunji was the passenger it is quite likely Kongchunji was using Dunham's phone to talk with Weskamp. P's Ex. 52 at 219, 222; RP 438. No one testified that they had spoken with Dunham on the phone. And even is such testimony existed, it would not undermine Dunham's credibility because it was acknowledged that Dunham and Weskamp may have a passing familiarity with each other.

Plaintiffs' claim that Dunham lied when he said he did not know any of the victims is false. Plaintiffs' claim that Dunham's phone records prove Dunham was in contact with Weskamp prior to the robbery is false, and even if true is not incriminating. Plaintiffs' claim that the phone records pinpoint the date of the crime to a date favorable to them is clearly false given that they refused to provide the records to the State and never sought to admit them at the wrongful conviction trial. In short, Dunham's phone records contain no exculpatory information whatsoever.

b. Shane Neilson provided no exculpatory information.

Plaintiffs claimed that Shane Neilson, who was not interviewed by their criminal trial counsel and did not testify in the criminal trial, had exculpatory information. P's Ex 16, 17, 18 at p. 5. Judge Price noted that the failure to interview Neilson contributed to his conclusion that counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel. But once Neilson's testimony was heard it was found to have no exculpatory value. CP 429.

Neilson testified at the wrongful conviction trial that Kongchunji came to Statler's home around 3:00 or 4:00 a.m. and gave Neilson a case saying "hold onto this for me." RP 665. Neilson claimed the case did not look like a gun case but "looked like a tripod or something." RP 671. Neilson claimed it was not until police later arrived that he realized the case contained a firearm. RP 671-72. He claimed that although Statler was home when Kongchunji came by he did not tell Statler until the police arrived that Kongchunji had dropped off a large firearm. RP 667.

The court did not find Neilson's incredible testimony persuasive. Neilson admitted he was aware of the criminal trial, but never contacted anyone such as Statler's public defender or the police to advise them of his willingness to testify on Statler's behalf. RP 675. Neilson admitted to being "good friends" with all the plaintiffs. RP 668-70. After some sidestepping and minimizing he admitted to having two prior robbery convictions, being aware that Statler also has a prior robbery conviction, and being in prison at the same time as all the plaintiffs. RP 670, 675-76.

Neilson's testimony did nothing to refute the highly incriminating fact that the shotgun used in the Turner-Hall robbery, and which appeared to be the same shotgun used in the Cataldo robbery, was confiscated by police at Statler's home. Dunham testified that Statler was the shooter in the Cataldo robbery, and identified the shotgun seized from Statler's home as the one Statler used. RP 454. Judge Cooney found:

The Court finds it compelling that the firearm used in the commission of a similar robbery was found at Mr. Statler's residence. Mr. Statler denied knowing the firearm was in his residence. The Court deemed this testimony unpersuasive given the conflicting testimony of Det. McCrillis,¹¹ Mr. Neilson, and Mr. Statler on the issues surrounding the firearm. Mr. Statler's testimony is further scrutinized based upon his convictions for felony crimes of dishonesty.¹² CP 429.

Neilson's testimony did not undermine the facts establishing Statler and the other Plaintiffs' guilt. Neilson provided no exculpatory information, and his testimony was properly rejected by Judge Cooney.

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